






 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 

 

Figure 15: Benelong Point from Dawes Point showing Aboriginal Nawis and European ships, watercolour by John 
Ayre, 1804. Source: State Library of NSW 

Figure 14: Carving of a whale figure located 100m west of Berrys Bay Figure 16: Balls Head Sydney 1803. Engraving - Charles Alexandre Lesueur 
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2.2 Non-Aboriginal history and heritage 
Occupation of the land began in the 1820s when a grant of 202 hectares was given to 
Edward Wollstonecraft, business partner of Alexander Berry. Berry and Wollstonecraft 
used the wharf in the bay to unload goods from their trade ship. The maritime operations 
on site expanded to accommodate growth in demand over time, with a stone wharf and 
warehouse constructed to house a clerk’s office. Berry and Wollstonecraft leased space 
within the store and wharf to multiple businesses throughout the 1800s. 

The deep waters of the Bay offered an ideal setting for shipbuilding and other industrial 
activities. Numerous shipbuilding yards started to pop up in the bay and Woodley’s 
Shipyard was established in 1906. The use of Berrys Bay as a maritiime industrial hub 
persisted well into the 20th century. 

In 1922, BP acquired the site, using the northern portion of the bay to house oil storage 
tanks through the 1990s. During this time, industrial use was intensified, leading to site 
contamination. The bund wall, constructed from the demolished 1830s warehouse to 
prevent oil flowing into the harbour in the event of tank ruptures, is an important remnant 
from this period. Several wharves and docks established during this industrial phase 
were left on site after use and their deteriorating remains are evident to this day. 

Residential development in the vicinity resulted in advocacy for open space and amenity. 
Once operations of both oil storage and the coal loader were closed by 1996, the North 
Sydney Council endorsed public open space proposals. By 2005, remediation efforts 
were underway to decontaminate the land and establish parklands. 

Figure 18: Alexander Berry. Source: State Library of 
NSW 

Figure 19: The Battle of Berry’s Bay - a battle with sharks in Sydney Harbour 7 
March 1886. Source: State Library of NSW 

Figure 17: Down the hills to Berry’s Bay, 1916, Roland Wakelin. Source: Art Gallery of NSW 
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Until the mid-20th century, Berrys Bay was an 
important industrial hub for maritime activities. It 
housed shipyards, boat repair facilities, and storage 
areas, re°ecting its key role in Sydney’s shipping 
industry. Several maritime industries, including boat 
builders and ship repairers, operated in Berrys Bay, 
contributing to the economic development of the area. 

As the leases from the NSW Government to BP, 
the nearby coal loader, and the Caltex depot 
expired in the mid-1990s, North Sydney Council, 
prompted by the Waverton Precinct, formed the 
Waverton Peninsula Planning Taskforce, including 
representatives from the Department of Planning 
and the Sydney Harbour Foreshores Committee. 
While the Government pushed for major 
residential development on the site, local 
representatives advocated for public open space 
along the harbourside. Following this, in 1995, 
North Sydney Council endorsed the public open 
space proposals. 
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Excavation of cli˜s to add more tanks. 

19
22

 

19
94

20
25

19
99

 Oil storage facility Public open space 

Closure of operations The cli˜s were excavated to add more tanks 
in 1935-37. By 1961, the facility featured 
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Remediation works on the site Berrys Bay Landscape extensive infrastructure with thirty-one In 1994, operations at the site 
began soon afterwards and Master Plan released above-ground tanks and over thirty were scaled back, and it was 
parklands next to the subject as part of Western kilometres of pipelines. It also included bund eventually closed. The 
BP Site, now known as Harbour Tunnel. walls, an administration building, roads, and waterfront tanks were 
Carradah Park, were opened in wharves, remnants of which are still visible dismantled, with the last one 
March 2005. in varying states today. removed in 1996. 

Between 1922 and 1993, the site operated as a major oil storage facility, BP site New master plan Berrys Bay PDLP, managed successively by the Anglo-Persian Oil Company, Commonwealth 
outlining the design Oil Reÿneries, and BP Australia. In 1999, The Waverton Peninsula development of the park and 

Strategic Master Plan was developed by the community spaces, 
Council. The masterplan outlined reuse strategies released for public The ÿrst storage tank was installed for the former working waterfront, transforming exhibition. in 1923 the ex-industrial BP, Caltex, and coal loader sites. 

1932 1970 
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2.3 Topography 
Berrys Bay comprises two distinct coves—one oriented to the north and one oriented to 
the west of the bay. The scope for this project sits along the northern and eastern shore 
of the western bay, opposite Balls Head Reserve. The land along the bay is relatively flat, 
elevated just above the water level of the Harbour , with land rising steeply to the north 
to a prominent at Crows Nest and North Sydney, around Pacific Highway. Balls Head 
Reserve peninsula is one among a series of similar landforms and is located between 
McMahons Point and Berry Island. A ridge runs along Balls Head Reserve to Waverton, 
the land on either side slopes to the coast. 

The northern edge of the bay features a relatively flat, wide terrace closer to coast level, 
framed by steep Hawkesbury sandstone cliffs further north. The old BP oil storage 
facility has left its mark on the terrain in the form of levelled circular foundations. 

A stairway is presently used to traverse between the levels. Woodley’s Shed sits on the 
water’s edge and the land behind slopes steeply up to the existing road on the ridge line. 
This crescent-shaped arrangement positions Berrys Bay with prominent views to the 
Harbour Bridge and Balls Head Reserve, particularly from higher vantage points along the 
sandstone cliff edges. 

Design considerations: 

– The natural slope of the land can be leveraged for water-sensitive urban design 
strategies 

– The cliffs, combined with dense vegetation, form a strong visual and physical 
barrier from the surroundings. While this enhances the site’s character, it also poses 
challenges for surveillance and security, limiting opportunities for additional entry 
points 

– The exposed rock cuttings serve as a striking visual feature and could be retained 
and celebrated in the design 

– Key viewpoints to the Harbour Bridge and Balls Head Reserve should be identified, 
with activities and movement patterns planned to enhance and frame these views 

– The lookout points from Carradah Park offer a comprehensive view of the site—the 
view of the park from above should be considered in the final design 

– Compared to the surrounding terrain, the site features relatively flat land, providing 
opportunities for open and flexible public spaces 

– Access to the site is challenging due to the level difference with Balls Head Road, 
requiring thoughtful integration of pathways and connections 
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Figure 39: Topography map 

        



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

2.4 Transport and connectivity 
Presently, there are limited transportation options to reach the site. 

» Waverton Station on the North Shore Line is the closest train station, within 
an 800m catchment. The North Sydney train station and Victoria Cross metro 
station are further north west, outside of the walking catchment 

» One bus route, between Lane Cove and North Sydney, services Woolcott 
Street and provides the closest point of public transport access from the site 

» While ferry routes dominate the harbour, Balls Head Reserve does not feature 
a wharf; the closest ferry wharf is McMahons Point 

» Balls Head Drive is the only road connecting the peninsula to Waverton and 
beyond 

» The North Sydney Foreshore Walk forms a continuous loop of access for 
pedestrians along the coastline 

Currently, there is no dedicated parking for the area, however on-street parking is 
available along Balls Head Road 

Design considerations: 

– Public and private transport access is limited on the site, with access further 

challenged by topography; this condition lends the park to local use, serving 
primarily those in the walking catchment 

– Strengthen the connection to the Coal Loader to enhance accessibility and 
integration with the broader precinct 

– Explore opportunities to increase accessible parking where feasible 

– Complete the missing link in the Foreshore Walk, ensuring a seamless 
connection with the existing pedestrian tracks 

– Plan service vehicle paths efficiently and consider alternative solutions to 
minimise or eliminate the need for on-site vehicle movement 

– Implement a clear and prominent wayfinding system, both on-site and off-site, 
to guide visitors effectively to the park and its key entry points 

Figure 40: Access and movement map 
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2.5 Land use and character 
Berrys Bay and Balls Head Reserve evolved from old industrial land. This is apparent 
in Figure 41, where a majority of the immediate context and peninsula is classified as 
environmental conservation land with small pockets of industrial use still identified, 
throughout the proposed site area and further south at the former Quarantine Boat 
Depot. Residential clusters sit further north, which have grown from the first significant 
settlement at Waverton, with a small local centre and a much larger commercial centre at 
North Sydney. 

Beyond the low-density residential context of the Balls Head peninsula, the suburbs 
of North Sydney, and McMahons Point feature areas of high-density residential, 
contributing to significant density of residents in the broader walking catchment of the 
park. Waverton remains a medium- to low-rise suburb despite its zoning. Within these 
residential clusters, there are few open spaces established and the existing parks are 
relatively small. The reserves and environmental conservation land along the Harbour  
waterline are the main supporting green spaces; namely Berry Island Reserve, Balls 
Head Reserve, Carradah Park, Waverton Park, and Blues Point Reserve. 

Design considerations: 

– Design multifunctional spaces that accommodate various activities, including play 
facilities, community gardens, and flexible open areas for events 

– Strengthen connections with the Coal Loader and the Coal Loader Centre for 
Sustainability to enhance the site’s role as a key destination 

– Introduce amenities that attract diverse user groups beyond local residents, such 
as picnic areas and gathering spaces, while considering the access challenges and 
prioritising access for pedestrians 

– Integrate green infrastructure, native vegetation, and wildlife habitats to create an 
ecological space that supports biodiversity and appeals to nature enthusiasts 

– Apply Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) principles to 
enhance safety, considering potentially lower usage on weekdays 

        

Figure 41: Land use zoning map 
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2.6 Open space network and amenities 
The site is located among a series of public spaces along the northern foreshore of the 
Harbour , including Waverton Park, Carradah Park, Balls Head Reserve, and the Coal 
Loader. These spaces feature different recreational amenities like sports grounds, play 
spaces, and lookout points. The North Sydney Foreshore Walking trail connects most of 
these existing green spaces. 

Design considerations: 

– Consider the character of the surrounding open spaces to have visual and 
experiential continuity 

– Play space provision for the suburb could be enhanced by adding play features in 
the new open spaces 

– Explore opportunities for future-proofing connections to the harbour from the park 
to allow for water-based recreational facilities 

– Express the site’s unique character and history, creating a distinctive offering that 
ties in with the Coal Loader 

– Provide spaces for larger gatherings and sheltered community areas, addressing a 
gap in the surrounding amenities 

Figure 42: Open space network map 

        | 21.07.2025 | 39 




















